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DESCRISE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (I known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Bruton Parish Church in Williamsburg Virginia is a simple eighteenth
century church whose fundamental virtues are those of proportion. It

was built 1711-1715, with its tower added in 1769. It reveals a beautiful
mixture of gothic and renaissance features. The roofline for instance,

is that of a steeply pitched gable (gothic), while one of the most im-
posing visual features of the building is its use of roundheaded and

then altogether round windows {renaissance).

The earlier part of the church was built before English patternbooks
began to be published in the 1720's, and its style derives at least in
part from the influence of the high style of the Wren-baroque architects
of the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries in England. Most
importantly, the plan itself is a medieval one, the cruciform being a
symbolic form which has persisted throughout the entire christian era.
Aside from the scarcely-comparable Saint Paul's Cathedral, Sir Chris-
topher Wren never designed a cruciform church, although some of his
churches appear to be so from the interior. Virginia alone of the
American colonies accepted the cruciform plan and Bruton Parish Church
was the prototype of that design which spawned such outstanding work

as Christ Church in nearby Lancaster County in 1732. It would seem
moreover that the only surviving cruciform churches built in the
American colonies before Bruton Parish Church are The Swedish Lutheran
Churches of Gloria Dei in Wilmington Delaware and Philadelphia Pennsyl-
vania, built 1698-1700.

The exterior of this simple church whose dimensions are 103'9" west

to east and 38'10" north-south, is laid in a handsome Flemish bond

with an irregular pattern of glazed headers. Some difference in

color may be seen between the plum-colored tower added in 1769 and the
lighter red of the earlier nave and transepts. The church is of one
storey, 23' high with walls 2 and 1/2 ft. thick. The tower is three
storeys, rising to a height of 100 feet. The spire of Bruton Church
appears to be in the style of James Gibbs and it has been suggested that
its movement through two octagons to the spire might have been inspired
by the much more polished example given by Saint Michael's at Charleston,
South Carolina, completed ten years earlier.

The exterior is punctuated by round-arched and circular windows, while a
simple modillion cornice livens the eavesline. The interior of Bruton
Church is one of the simplest ot all Georgian churches. It's restoration
to eighteenth century appearance has established an effective contrast
between the flat, white, plastered ceilings, and the richness of the
woodwork. The latter is a mixture of original and reconstructed work.

The role of the church as something of a theatre for the display of
pomp and ceremony, of rank and position, is suggested in the variety
of pews and the placement of galleries in the church. The royal governor

335

SNOCITLDONHELSNI



Form 10-3000 UNITED $TA c5 DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STAT.
{duly 1969} NATIONAL PARK SERVICE P
virginla
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES [county
| INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM Independent City
(naTioveT T menLa FOR NPS USE ONLY
abee o (Continuation Sheet) ENTRY NUMPER oaTE

Numb Il . .
(Wumber eIl entriee) 7 Description  second page

and his family occupied the most prominent pew to the northeast of the
crossing, and over his chair was a canopy with a valance. Square pews
were reserved for members of The House of Burgesses. The rector and the
Surveyor General occupied pews in the choir, while the common people sat
in the nave, men to the north, women to the south. Students were allowed
in the west gallery along with some indians, while servants were permitt-
ed to stand in the north gallery.

In 1749, the vestry contracted with Emery Hughes for the construction
of a wall around the Bruton Parish Churchyard. The property owned by
the parish at that time consisted of three lots, two contained within
the new wall, and the third adjacent to the West. The latter was used
as a parking area for carriages and is now occupied by a handsome Greek
Revival style brick house. Since the original wall still survives around
the churchyard, it would seem most reasonable to set the boundary of this
landmark to be co-extensive with that wall. It extends from the junction
of Duke of Cloucester Street and Palace Green 323 feet west to a point
where it turns to the north for a distance of 194 feet to a point where
the wall turns east for 330 feet to a point where it finally turns south
for 182 feet returning to the point at the junction of The Palace Green
and Duke of Gloucester Street.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Bruton Parish Church (1711-1715, 1769) was probably designed by

Royal Governor Alexander Spottswood in 1711, with its western tower
added later in the century. The church represents the first to be
built in a cruciform plan in the Virginia Colony. Since that plan
became a common form only in that colony, Bruton Parish Church was

a prototype. Its classical details demonstrate a mixture of drasti-
cally simplified Wren-type forms with a persistent conservative
survival of medieval ideas. It is the earliest church in the Ameri-
can colonies to reflect the infusion of English Renaissance style,

and marks a sharp contrast to the medieval survival of nearby churches
such as the Newport Parish Church, for instance. Its exterior details
such as roundheaded and circular windows, as well as its interior,
with a flat, suspended, plaster ceiling surmounting a broad, coved
cornice, supplant earlier more gothic features like the po1nted window
and visible roof trusses.

In the years following the turn of the eighteenth century the population
of Williamsburg expanded rapidly and was especially swollen during those
parts of the year when the Assembly was meeting. The Capitol was moved
to Williamsburg from Jamestown in 1699, and one result of the new growth
was the strain placed upon the facilities at The Bruton Parish Church.
Several wooden structures had stood near the present site at Duke of
Gloucester Street and The Palace Green, and so too had stood at least
two brick churches. By November 1710, the vestry of the church felt
compelled to petition the assembly "for their Generous Contribution
towards same', that is an alleviation of the crowded situation at the
church. The result was not only the funds that they had requested, but
a design for a new building from the hand of the colony's Royal Governor
himself, Alexander Spottswood. The plan was for the church was to be
one 75'X 28' with two wings on each side, each one 22 feet. The governor
proposed that the vestry build only 53 feet of the 75, and that he would
take care of remaining part out of his own pocket. Apparently he did
s0, but in 1712 he decided to shorten each arm from an interior length
of 19 feet to one of 14 feet 6 inches.

The church was in use by 1715, although the roof was not shingled until
1717. In December 1749, a certain Emery Hughes agreed with the vestry
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to build the churchyard wall for 290 pounds. In February 1751, the vestry
decided to build an addition to the church, and a year later, the
House of Burgesses resolved to make the enlargement of the church a
‘'‘country charge'. The addition took the form of a 22 foot extension at
the chancel end, making that part of the church east of the crossing
precisely equal in size to the nave to the west of it,

In December 1768, first steps were taken towards erection of a steeple,
built by Benjamin Powell one of the prominent tradesmen of the town.
Before this time Bruton had nothing more than a bell-cote.

Bruton Parish Church came through the Revolution unharmed and continued
to serve as an Anglican place of worship. By the end of the century
however it had fallen into disrepair owing to the financial distress of
the disestablishment, . oo

The pews were cut down in 1829, while it was further altered by partitions
and stoves in 1838-40. Much of the old woodwork was sold. Some attempt
at repairs and alterations was made in 1886 but their extent is unknown.

In 1902 when Rev. William A.R. Goodwin, Rector of St. John's Petersburg
was invited to be rector of Bruton Parish, he made it a condition of his
acceptance that the vestry allow him to restore Bruton Parish Church.

J. Stewart Barney, a New York City architect, was hired, and if nothing
else, a certain stylistic consistency was imposed upon Bruton Parish's
interiors. In 1938-1942, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc. completed that
partial restoration of the church to its present late-eighteenth century
appearance. The exterior is largely original, while on the interior,

a good deal of the windows and their frames, the West doorway, the rail-
ing, turned ballusters, and the framing of the West Gallery, are original.
The church is maintained in excellent condition and, while still active
as a church, is also open to visitors. Frequent musical recitals open

to the public are held at the church.
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